Clune Wood WGS            
An Archaeological Survey                            11th June  1999


CLUNE WOOD WGS

An Archaeological Survey


Wordsworth


 

  Archaeological
 

 
          Services


    4, Balbeg, Balnain, Glenurquhart,

 Inverness-shire IV63   6TL 

  Tel./Fax  01456476 288

email: J.Wordsworth@warchs@demon.co.uk









11th June 1999
Introduction

Highland Council Archaeology Service recommended that a rapid walk-over archaeological survey be carried out as part of the preparation for a WGS application at Clune Wood.  The writer was appointed by Scottish Woodlands to carry out this work.  This report outlines the findings of this survey with suggested mitigation work necessary to protect the recorded remains.

Survey Method

An initial desk-bound survey was carried out of available data in Highland Council Sites & Monuments Record and of various cartographic sources held in Highland Council Archive Service in Inverness.   This was followed by a walk-over survey carried out in damp drizzly conditions on the 3rd June 1999.

Archaeological and Historical Background

Dores Parish is rich in archaeological remains dating from the prehistoric period to the present day.  These remains include substantial roundhouse settlements associated with clearance cairns in the moorland around Loch Ashie and Loch Duncheltaig and on topographic grounds there is no reason why similar settlements should not be recorded in area of Clune Wood.  However no such remains have been recorded from this area.  The closest recorded site until the post-medieval period is the location of an early Pictish symbol stone at cNH 6057 3542, recovered in the 19th century and incorporated into a farm cottage at Clune.

The earliest map of the area, a Military Survey of c1725, records settlement and cultivation in the approximate area of Clune and the present area of cultivation.  But no settlement, no cultivation and no woodland are shown on the slopes above Clune and the area behind titled Drim Ashey Moor is also shown as unwooded and unsettled.  This is confirmed in General Roy’s more extensive Military Survey of c1750.

The lands in this area were held by the MacBeans in the 16th and 17th century off the Campbell Earls of Cawdor (on the evidence of the modern memorial at NH 6127 3588.)  A detailed history of this farm has not been recorded.  By the time of the 1851 census ownership had passed to Wm Fraser Tyler of Balnain.  Ten years later he is titled Wm Fraser Tyler of Aldourie and it is at this date that Wood of Clune is described as an established entity.

In common with other lands in the area, there is likely to have been an expansion of settlement as part of the agricultural improvements introduced in the late 18th/early 19th century.  This was followed by the introduction of large-scale sheep farming and the consolidation of joint farming townships into single farms. The finding of the inscribed pictish stone ‘some thirty years before’ 1889 when reclaiming waste ground suggests land was being brought into cultivation in the middle of the 19th century.  In 1851 Alex Shaw the occupier of Clune Farm was described as a farmer of 75 acres and 3 houses and 1 under construction were listed at Clune.  By the 1861 census John McIntosh is described as the occupier at Clune House and a farmer of 160 acres, a significant increase from the 1851 figure.  This contrasts strongly with the first OS survey of 1870 where Clune Wood is shown as well established.  Only the farm at Knockchurralt and the building near Glac na Ceardaich are shown as occupied with small clearings adjacent to them.

Knockchurralt was occupied in both censuses by Farquhar Smithwho is described as a farmer of 10 acres, effectively a crofter.  The house at Glac na Ceardaich shown as roofed in both 1870 and 1902-3, though only part was unroofed by 1902-33.  Initially from its location this was considered to be a forester’s or gamekeeper’s house from its location.  However on structural evidence discussed later and on the 1861 census evidence which described one pauper family as resident in the Wood of Clune.  The house and cultivated area may originally be connected with the enclosures marked to the W on the current OS map but not recorded on the earlier OS editions.

To the west the mill dam and its sluice are shown in 1870 as important elements on Clune Burn feeding the corn and barley mill to the east of Dores Church.  An additional dam was sited to the north east of Clune on the burn that runs past Knockcurralt, as well as a sluice just outside the survey area at the N.

By the time of the second OS survey of 1902-3, the dam at Glac na Ceardaich has been abandoned and the burn is renamed Allt a’Mhinisteir.  The building to the north east (the name Glac na Ceardaich seems to have shifted from W of the dam to a hollow to the NE) is still shown as occupied as is Knockcurralt, though the buildings to the south west appears to be unroofed.  The woodland extent is shown as very similar to that recorded in 1870, though part of Drumashie Wood to the east of the survey area has been cleared suggesting this piece of woodland had matured sufficiently to justify felling.

Survey results

The long heather and active birch regeneration at the S and the extensive whins and mixed woodland to the N made it impossible to survey all the potential areas for archaeological remains.  Despite these constraints the writer is reasonably confident that no trace of earlier prehistoric settlement had been sited on the upper ground of the survey area.  The lower ground is too obscured to be confident of any survival or the lack of it.  The remains recorded are all consistent with a late 18th/19th century expansion from the areas of settlement recorded on the Military Surveys of 1725 and c1750.  The rocky terrain of the glacial ridges, evident even under the thin peat growth, would make this an area undesirable for human settlement.  Areas such as the 10 acres for Knockchorralt and the area S of Clune Farm, now under whins, would only have been cultivable after considerable labour.  The expansion of Clune Farm from 1851 to 1861 almost certainly included the area extending S to the dyke line, recorded as Site 6.  This may even have predated this expansion, acting as a head dyke for the late 18th/early 19th century farm.  It had clearly become redundant by 1870 when Clune Wood is shown as extending right up to the burn S of Clune Farm.

The farm or croft at Knockchorralt was clearly established by 1851 and further resarch into estate records might establish when it was constructed.  The smaller site at Glac na Ceardaich was possibly constructed between 1851 and 1861 but there may have been earlier remains here that were not recorded in 1870.  Both sites were still roofed and possibly still lived in 1902-3, though both sites contained unroofed buildings and were probably in decay.

As can be seen on the 1870 OS survey Clune Wood was part of a much larger afforestation that included Dirr Wood, Drumashie Wood and Aldourie Wood.  From the census evidence these were established by the Fraser Tylers of Aldourie in the 1850s.  (It may be significant that the census records the birthplace of Wm Fraser Tyler’s mother as Jamaica, suggesting the family may have acquired monies from the sugar trade to finance this work  - but this is speculation!)  The northern edge of Clune Wood was formed by the stone dyke that now partly survives to the N of the modern road.  This boundary presumably marked the edge of Clune Farm and may predate the establishment of the wood, linking with the ?earlier dyke recorded as Site 6.  It is probable that a taller fence was not needed at this date, as the dyke would be sufficient to prevent stock destroying the planted tree seedlings and that deer numbers would have been sufficiently low not to have caused a problem.

Also of interest in this area are the complex of sluices and dams constructed to increase the head of water to power the former mill at Dores.  Clearly there were major problems in maintaining the flow of water to this mill. 

More details on the dykes and the only evidence for the enclosures at Sites 2 and 4 was recorded on the modern OS map.  This was almost certainly derived from aerial photos taken shortly after the wood was felled, as many of these features are extremely difficult to spot under the present scrub vegetation.  The date of this felling is not known.

Conclusions and Recommendations

1.
The area of Clune Wood does not contain archaeological sits of major importance.  However the remains that do survive are important for understanding the land-use of the area in the late 18th and 19th centuries.  Where feasible, they should be protected during planting operations.

2. Specific recommendations are listed with each site in the accompanying Appendix.  In general care should be taken to prevent damage by machinery and contractors to the recorded sites.

3. 
The surviving buildings at Glac na Ceardaich and Knockchurralt are threatened by encroaching vegetation and future management should consider controlling existing vegetation and prevent future encroachments. 

4.  
Consideration should also be given to clearing the dams of scrub and trees. This will have to balanced against the safety of stock, if it is planned to reintroduce them to the wood, once the new woodland is established

5. The dykes and enclosures are too heavily overgrown to justify the clearance of scrub and this would possibly lead to too rigid lines within the planting.  This would be especially true for the dyke at Site 6.  Planting operations should aim to leave the dykes undamaged and no planting should take place within 10 metres of any dyke.  It may be desirable to distinguish the enclosures at Sites 2 and 4 by selective planting of distinctive tree species.

Jonathan Wordsworth MA, MIFA, FSA Scot

APPENDIX

SITE DESCRIPTIONS & MANAGEMENT RECOMMENDATIONS

Site No:


1.

SMR No:

NMRS   NH63SW79

NGR:


NH 6151 3455

Description:

The main feature, as illustrated, is a drystone building aligned NE/SW built of partially dressed sandstone blocks.  The walls stand up to 1m high at the gables with considerable quantities of stone tumble, suggesting the walls were of drystone construction throughout.  There is an entrance in the S wall and a probable cruck slot to support the roof is located opposite this in the N wall.

To the SW is an 11m long extension, with at least 3 chambers, only surviving to the level f the footings. No stone tumble is shown nearby and this may originally have been of turf construction on a stone foundation.  This portion was probably the portion shown unroofed in 1902-3.

To the NE of the main structure on the same alignment is an extension 4m by 3m, possibly built over an earlier structure 5m by 5m.  It is partly filled with sheep carcasses.

45m to the SW of the standing building a cairn of stones 5m in diameter and another 6m further to the SW may mark the gable ends of a building, as there is a distinct cut in the ground to the NW to form a rectangular terrace c5m wide.  This is badly obscured by long heather suggesting it was abandoned long before the other buildings went out of use.  It is not shown on either of the earlier OS maps.

20m to the S of the main structure, a line of stones on the edge of the slope marks the limit of cultivation on the flat ground and is probably the remnant of the wall line shown on the 1902-3 survey.  The area here and around the house is distinctly greener and grassier than the surrounding heather moorland.  Several recent machine dug pits were noted in the vicinity, but the well site was not identified.

The RCAHMS recorded a number of clearance cairns [PJD 17/11/92] in the vicinity. Apart    

 from a couple of cairns to the S of the main buildings no such cairns were noted.

Recommendation:
No planting should take place within 20m of any of the recorded structures.  The area of improved grassland to the S should either remain unplanted or be selected for distinctive planting to emphasise its former use as an area of cultivation..  Future management should consider regular weeding to prevent further regeneration in this area.


Site No:


2.

NGR:


NH 6117 3423 (centred)

Description:

A turf bank up to 1m high but generally no more than 0.5m high defines an enclosure around the mill pond at Site 3.  Portions of this dyke, notably on the W and the SE, are of drystone construction and quarry pits adjacent to the wall suggest that construction depended on materials immediately available.  The S side is obscured by the mill pond and it is not clear if this enclosure is contemporary with the dam or predates it.  There is some heather growing within the enclosure but there is generally more grass and bracken than in the surrounding area, suggesting this has been enriched.  There is no evidence of cultivation and this was almost certainly a stock enclosure.

Recommendation:
The enclosure should be retained as a distinct landscape feature and enhanced by selective planting within it.  No planting should take place within 10m of the wall line.  Machinery and contractors operating within the woodland should respect the surviving wall lines to cause minimum damage to this enclosure.  The extent and vigour of the existing  regeneration make it impractical to preserve or clear this as an unplanted area.

Site No:


3.

NGR:


NH 612 343 (centred)

Description:

The dam as first recorded on the 1870 OS survey, still survives as a bank 4m wide at the base by 1m wide on the top and up to1m high.  The sluice mechanism has been largely washed out, though a few large stones and flat timbers mark its former position.  A concrete overflow, 15m S of the sluice, survives 0.8m above the current water level and probing here suggests the pond bottom is at least 0.7m below the present surface silt.  This concrete overflow appears to be more recent than the other features and is not recorded on the earlier OS maps.  As a boat lies silted up in the middle of the pond, the pond may have been refurbished after 1902-3 for fishing/shooting interests.

The relationship between the enclosure Site 2 and the dam is not known.  The construction of the dam and pond is considered to predate the planting of Clune Wood, though it appears to have been still operational in 1870.

Recommendation:
The dam is a strong visual feature in the landscape and in conjunction with Site 7 forms a significant component of the past land-use of this area.  Ideally the line of the bank should be enhanced by the clearing of encroaching birch scrub and no new planting should take place on within a minimum of 10m from the edge of this feature.  Care must be taken to prevent damage to the dam by machinery.



Site No:


4.

NGR:


NH 6075 3420 (centred)

Description:

An enclosure dyke of both earth/turf and drystone construction, very similar in form to Site 3, survives as shown.  It stands up to 0.2m average height, though in places it survives up to 0.5m high, and it is spread over 2m wide.  The line of most of the enclosure can be traced apart from a small portion extending into the modern plantation to the S.  The W end of the enclosure, in particular is rich in grasses and bracken, though some heather and blaeberry are also visible. This contrast to the heather dominant scrub outside suggests the soil has been enriched within the the enclosure.  No sign of cultivation is evident and as with Site 2,  this is considered to have been a stock enclosure.  The similarity of the enclosures suggests they are contemporary.  Birch scrub is encroaching 

Recommendation:
The enclosure should be retained as a distinct landscape feature and enhanced by selective planting within it.  No planting should take place within 10m of the wall line.  Machinery and contractors operating within the woodland should respect the surviving wall lines to cause minimum damage to this enclosure.  The extent and vigour of the existing  regeneration make it impractical to preserve or clear this as an unplanted area.

Site No:


5.

NGR:


NH 6123 3556

Description:

A mortared stone foundation 12m by 6m and aligned NE/SW marks the site of the main building at Knockchorralt.  It only survives one stone high with walls 0.9m thick.  There is no obvious entrance.  A slight ditch 2.5m wide surrounds the structure.

8m to the E is an L-shaped structure also aligned NE/SW on its main axis.  This measures 26m by 5m whereas the structure to the SE is only 11m long (or 5m on its shorter side).  The latter has opposing entrances in the middle of the structure.  Again only the footings survive.  It appears to have been a cruder construction with rounded rather than dressed stones and may possibly have been turf-walled.  It was unroofed by 1902-3.  To the S, the edge of the terrace cut to hold this feature has been rvetted with drystone walling up to 1.5m high.

18m to the NW are the remains of a square enclosure, 26m wide.  This was formerly enclosed by a drystone wall, though this only survives to its full height for a small stretch on the SW side where it is capped by turf. Mature larch and sycamore planted on the edge of this enclosure mark its age. 

Gorse is encroaching on all these features and bracken grows out of the L-shaped building. 

Recommendation:
No planting should take place within or 20m from the edge of these structures.  Future management should consider the clearance of scrub and the spraying of bracken in this area.

Site No:


6.

NGR:


NH 6065 3475 - NH 6105 3600?

Description:

The remnants of a linear stone drystone dyke lie 275m E of Clune Farm running in a NE/SW direction. Parts of the dyke are obscured by a dense growth of gorse, but the line can be traced from a point above Dores at NH 6065 3475 to a probable point near the former Manse at NH 6105 3600.  This would appear to be a head dyke separating Clune Farm from its hill ground.  The date of the walling is uncertain, but it was probably built early in the 19th century.  It appears to predate the creation of Clune Wood.  A small portion of both drystone walling and an earthen bank runs NW from the main dyke at a point at NH 6085 3551. Though this is shown as forming part of a distinct enclosure on the earlier OS maps, this distinction was not evident on the ground and the walling could all date from the same period. 

Recommendation:
This walling is so badly obscured by existing scrub that it no longer remains as a distinct landscape feature.  Unless there are plans to remove this scrub to encourage a more diverse range of planting, no enhancement of these walls may be practical.  No planting should take place on or within 10m of these wall lines.


Site No:


7.

NGR:


NH 6075 3556 (centred)

Description:

Heavily obscured by dense vegetation are the remains of the mill dam and pond as recorded on the 1870 OS survey.  Details of this dam, such as the condition of its former sluice, could not be recorded because of the scrub.  It appears to survive relatively intact, though it is partly obscured by fencing erected to prevent stock straying into the mill pond.

This formed, with Site 3 and the dam and pond at NH 6084 3568, part of the water system feeding the former corn mill at Dores.

Recommendation:
Consideration should be given to clearing the scrub and woodland off this dam to enhance it as a landscape feature.  This will have to be balanced against possible future plans to let stock graze in this wood. If the dam at NH 6084 3568 is under the same ownership, the two dams and ponds should be managed as linked features.

